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The Origins of the Coronavirus Pandemic, Including but Not Limited to the 
Federal Government’s Funding of Gain-of-Function Research 
 
I. The Unknown Origins of COVID-19   

 
FINDING: SARS-CoV-2, the Virus that Causes COVID-19, Likely Emerged Because of a 

Laboratory or Research Related Accident.  
 

Four years after the onset of the worst pandemic in 100 years, the weight of the evidence 
increasingly supports the lab leak hypothesis. Since the Select Subcommittee commenced its 
work in February 2023, more and more senior intelligence officials, politicians, science editors, 
and scientists increasingly have endorsed the hypothesis that COVID-191 emerged as the result 
of a laboratory or research related accident. 

 
In January 2021, the State Department published an unclassified Fact Sheet entitled, 

“Fact Sheet: activity at the Wuhan Institute of Virology,” [hereinafter “Fact Sheet”] that stated 
the following.  
 

1) “The U.S. government has reason to believe that several researchers inside the WIV 
became sick in autumn 2019, before the first identified case of the outbreak, with 
symptoms consistent with both COVID-19 and common seasonal illness.”2 The June 
2023 ODNI Assessment entitled, “Potential Links Between the Wuhan Institute of 
Virology and the Origin of the COVID-19 Pandemic,” [hereinafter “June 2023 ODNI 
Assessment”] supported this conclusion.3 
 

2) “The WIV has a published record of conducting “gain-of-function” research to engineer 
chimeric viruses.”4 The June 2023 ODNI Assessment supported this conclusion and went 
further, stating, “[s]cientists at the WIV have created chimeras, or combinations of 
SARS-like coronaviruses through genetic engineering, attempted to clone other unrelated 
viruses, and used reverse genetic cloning techniques on SARS-like coronaviruses.”5 The 
June 2023 ODNI Assessment continued, “[s]ome of the WIV’s genetic engineering 
projects on coronaviruses involved techniques that could make it difficult to detect 
intentional changes.”6 
 

3) “Despite the WIV presenting itself as a civilian institution, the United States had 
determined that the WIV collaborated on publications and secret projects with China’s 
military…since at least 2017.”7 Again, the June 2023 ODNI Assessment supported this 

 
1 Throught this Report, “COVID-19” is used to describe SARS-CoV-2.  
2 FACT SHEET: ACTIVITY AT THE WUHAN INSTITUTE OF VIROLOGY, U.S. DEP’T OF STATE (Jan. 15, 2021) [hereinafter 
“Fact Sheet”].  
3 POTENTIAL LINKS BETWEEN THE WUHAN INSTITUTE OF VIROLOGY AND THE ORIGIN OF THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC, 
OFFICE OF THE DIR. OF NAT’L INTELLIGENCE (June 2023) [hereinafter “June 2023 ODNI Assessment”].  
4 Fact Sheet, supra note 2. 
5 June 2023 ODNI Assessment, supra note 3.  
6 Id.  
7 Fact Sheet, supra note 2.  
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conclusion, stating, “…WIV personnel have worked with scientists associated with the 
PLA on public health-related projects and collaborated on biosafety and biosecurity 
projects.”8 
 
Further, the June 2023 ODNI Assessment stated, “[s]ome WIV researchers probably did 

not use adequate biosafety precautions at least some of the time prior to the pandemic in 
handling SARS-like coronaviruses, increasing the risk of accidental exposure to viruses.”9 

 
In February and March of 2023, DOE and FBI publicly acknowledged their respective 

assessments that COVID-19 was the likely result of a lab incident—FBI with moderate 
confidence and DOE with low confidence.10 Other intelligence elements assess COVID-19’s 
emergence was likely zoonotic, albeit all with low confidence.11  

 
 On March 8, 2023, Dr. Redfield testified: 
 

Dr. Robert Redfield (March 8, 2023) 
 
From the earliest days of the pandemic, my view was that both theories 
about the origin of COVID-19 needed to be aggressively and thoroughly 
examined. Based on my initial analysis of the data, I came to believe—and 
still believe today—that it indicates COVID-19 infections more likely were 
the result of an accidental lab leak than the result of a natural spillover event. 
This conclusion is based primarily on the biology of the virus itself, 
including its rapid high infectivity for human-to-human transmission which 
would then predict rapid evolution of new variants, as well as a number of 
other important factors to include the unusual actions in and around Wuhan 
in the fall of 2019…12 

 
One month later in April 2023, Mr. Ratcliffe testified: 
 
The Honorable John Ratcliffe (April 18, 2023) 
 
First, let me state the bottom-line up front. My informed assessment as a 
person with as much access as anyone to our government’s intelligence 
during the initial year of the pandemic has been and continues to be that a 
lab leak is the only explanation credibly supported by our intelligence, by 
science, and by commonsense. From a view inside the IC, if our 
intelligence and evidence supporting a lab leak theory was placed side-by-

 
8 June 2023 ODNI Assessment, supra note 3.  
9 Id.  
10 Hannah Rabinowitz, FBI Director Wray acknowledges bureau assessment that Covid-19 likely resulted from lab 
incident, CNN (updated Mar. 1, 2023); Jeremy Herb & Natasha Bertrand, US Energy Department assesses Covid-19 
likely resulted from lab leak, furthering US intel divide over virus origin, CNN (Feb. 27, 2023). 
11 June 2023 ODNI Assessment, supra note 3.  
12 Investigating the Origins of COVID: Hearing Before the Select Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Pandemic, 118th 
Cong, 1, (Mar. 8, 2023) [hereinafter “Investigating the Origins of COVID-19”]. 
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side with our intelligence and evidence pointing to a natural origins or 
spillover theory, the lab leak side of the ledger would be long, convincing, 
even overwhelming, while the spillover side would be nearly empty and 
tenuous.13 

 
 In January 2024, Mr. Wade voiced his increasing support for a lab incident origin.14 Mr. 
Wade astutely noted that “SARS2 possesses a furin cleavage site, found in none of the other 871 
known members of its viral family, so it cannot have gained such a site through the ordinary 
evolutionary swaps of genetic material within a family.”15 With the natural evolution of a furin 
cleavage site being nonexistent, Mr. Wade further noted that EcoHealth and the WIV’s DEFUSE 
proposal, which was rejected by DARPA, sought to do what nature had not been ever known to 
do—insert a furin cleavage site into a SARS2 virus.16 It is, therefore, more than just a 
coincidence that COVID-19 emerged from the city with a lab preparing to conduct this research 
under cost-effective yet risky BSL-2 protocols.17 
 

In June 2024, Dr. Chan explained five key points that support the lab leak scenario as 
more plausible than a zoonotic spillover.18  

 
First, COVID-19 emerged in Wuhan, the city that happens to be the location of the 

China’s foremost research lab for SARS-like viruses.19 Dr. Shi, has been researching SARS-like 
viruses for over a decade and even initially wondered if the outbreak came from the WIV.20  
 

Next, in 2018, a year before the outbreak, EcoHealth, in partnership with the WIV, in a 
grant application to DARPA proposed to create a virus with SARS-CoV-2’s defining features. In 
their application to DARPA, EcoHealth and its WIV partners stated their intent to create a 
SARS-like virus with a furin cleavage site, which is the exact same feature that made humans 
susceptible to COVID-19 infection.21 
 

Third, the WIV has a track record of engaging in this type of airborne viral research 
under low biosafety conditions.22 At the WIV, it was known that Chinese researchers conducted 
this type of research under BSL-2 protocols, which do not require masking at all times and 
involves less protective equipment.23 In the U.S., this type of research would be conducted under 
BSL-3 protocols, which require stricter personal respirator use at all times and more protective 

 
13 Investigating the Origins of COVID Part 2: China and the Available Intelligence: Hearing Before the Select 
Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Pandemic, 118th Cong, 1, (Apr. 18, 2023) [hereinafter “Investigating the Origins of 
COVID Part 2: China and the Available Intelligence”]. 
14 Nicholas Wade, The Story of the Decade, CITY JOURNAL (Jan. 25, 2024).  
15 Id. 
16 Id. 
17 Id. 
18 Alina Chan, Why the Pandemic Probably Started in a Lab, in 5 Key Points, THE N.Y. TIMES (June 3, 2024) 
[hereinafter “Chan”]. 
19 Id. 
20 Id. 
21 Id. 
22 Id. 
23 Id. 
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equipment.24 In fact, in a draft proposal for the grant to DARPA, Dr. Daszak acknowledged that 
some of the SARS-CoV-2 research would be conducted at BSL-2 at the WIV.25 
 

 
 

Fourth, the evidence supporting that COVID-19 came from an animal at the Huanan 
Seafood Market in Wuhan is tenuous.26 Dr. Chan points of that “the existing genetic and early 
case data show that all known COVID-19 cases probably stem from a single introduction of 
SARS-CoV-2 into people, and the outbreak at the Wuhan market probably happened after the 
virus had already been circulating in humans.”27 Furthermore, no infected animal has been 
verified at the Wuhan market or its supply chain.28 

 
Finally, key evidence that would be expected if the virus had emerged from the wildlife 

trade is still missing.29 In previous outbreaks, such as SARS in 2002 and MERS in 2012, 
infected animals were found, the earliest cases occurred in people exposed to live animals, and 
ancestral variants of the virus found in animals were discovered, but none of this evidence has 
been discovered for COVID-19.30 
 
 In September 2024, Mr. Boris Johnson, former British Prime Minister, stated his belief 
that the COVID-19 pandemic originated via a laboratory or research related accident in Wuhan.31 

 
24 Id.  
25 Emily Kopp, American scientists misled Pentagon on research at the Wuhan Institute of Virology, U.S. RIGHT TO 
KNOW (Dec. 18, 2023). 
26 Chan, supra note 18.  
27 Id. 
28 Id. 
29 Id. 
30 Id. 
31 Jane Dalton, Boris Johnson claims Covid originated in lab, in sudden U-turn in his views, INDEPENDENT (Sept. 
29, 2024). 
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Mr. Johnson noted that the pandemic “now looks overwhelmingly likely that the mutation was 
the result of some botched experiment in a Chinese lab.”32 
  

In November 2024, Biden-Harris Administration COVID-19 Response Coordinator, Dr. 
Ashish K. Jha, wrote that Chinese “senior military officers have been writing for years about the 
potential benefits of offensive biological warfare.”33 He also acknowledged that the COVID-19 
virus might have accidentally leaked from a lab.34  
  

On November 21, 2024, Dr. Tim Spector, Professor at King’s College London, who 
played a significant role in the pandemic response in the United Kingdom, recently doubled 
down on his belief that the lab leak is the most likely source of the pandemic.35 Dr. Spector noted 
that “[i]t’s looking increasingly like that was a bit of a cover-up and the most likely source of this 
was a lab leak from Wuhan.”36  

 
Over the course of the pandemic, there have also been studies suggesting COVID-19’s 

emergence was zoonotic and transferred from an animal to a human.37 Dr. Lipkin described two 
of these studies as “armchair epidemiology,”38 Dr. Baric described one as having a “major 
problem,”39 and Dr. Holden Thorp, the Editor-in-Chief of Science (the publisher of two of these 
studies) testified these studies “do not conclusively prove [ ] the theory of natural origin.”40 
 
 As Mr. Ratcliffe testified, the ledger on the side of lab leak is full of convincing evidence 
while the spillover side is nearly empty. Since January 2020, the body of evidence has only 
grown stronger in support of a lab leak theory.  
 
FINDING: “The Proximal Origin of SARS-CoV-2” Was “Prompted” by Dr. Anthony Fauci to 

“Disprove” the Lab Leak Theory.  
 

On February 16, 2020, Dr. Rambaut, on behalf of himself and his co-authors, Dr. 
Andersen, Dr. Lipkin, Dr. Holmes, and Dr. Garry posted “The Proximal Origin of SARS-CoV-2” 

 
32 Id.  
33 Ashish K. Jha, et al., The U.S. could soon face a threat ‘more powerful’ than nuclear weapons, THE WASH. POST 
(Nov. 11, 2024).  
34 Id. 
35 Sarah Knapton, Lab leak most likely source of Covid, says Prof Tim Spector, THE TELEGRAPH (Nov. 21, 2024). 
36 Id.  
37 Alexander Crits-Christoph, et. al., Genetic tracing of market wildlife and viruses at the epicenter of the COVID-19 
pandemic, CELL 187: 5468-5482; Edward Holmes, et. al., The origins of SARS-CoV-2: A critical review, CELL 184: 
4848-4856; Jonthan Pekar, et. al., The molecular epidemiology of multiple zoonotic origins of SARS-CoV-2, SCIENCE 
377:960-966; Michael Worobey, et. al., The Hunan Seafood Wholesale Market in Wuhan was the early epicenter of 
the COVID1-9 pandemic, SCIENCE 377: 951-959; Edward Holmes, et. al., The emergence and evolution of SARS-
CoV-2, ANN. REV. VIROL. (Sept. 11, 2024). 
38 Transcribed Interview of Ian Lipkin, M.D., John Snow Professor of Epidemiology, Columbia Univ. (Apr. 6, 2023) 
[hereinafter “Lipkin TI”]. 
39 Transcribed Interview of Ralph Baric, Ph.D., Professor, University of N. Carolina, at 102 (Jan. 22, 2024) 
[hereinafter “Baric TI”]. 
40 Academic Malpractice: Examining the Relationship Between Scientific Journals, the Government, and Peer 
Review: Hearing Before the Select Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Pandemic, 118th Cong, (Apr. 11, 202) (Statement 
of Dr. Holden Thorp, Editor-in-Chief, Science Journals).  
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on the website Virological.41 One month later, on March 17, 2020, “The proximal origin of 
SARS-CoV-2” [hereinafter “Proximal Origin”] was published in Nature Medicine.42  
 

The authors of Proximal Origin stated two primary conclusions: (1) “…[COVID-19] is 
not a laboratory construct or a purposefully manipulated virus,” and (2) “we do not believe that 
any type of laboratory-based scenario is plausible.”43  

 
January 2020 
 

According to Dr. Farrar, the initial discussions regarding the sequence of COVID-19 and 
any unusual aspects began on January 8 or 9.44 At that point it is unclear what the concerns were 
or who exactly was involved, however e-mails suggest that Dr. Farrar called both Chinese 
officials and Dr. Collins.45  
 

 
 
 According to Dr. Farrar he became aware of “chatter” suggesting the virus looked almost 
engineered to infect human cells in the last week of January.46 In Dr. Farrar’s own words, “[t]hat 
got my mind racing. This was a brand-new virus that seemingly sprang from nowhere. Except 

 
41 Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., et. al., The Proximal Origin of SARS-CoV-2, VIROLOGICAL (Feb. 16, 2020), 
https://virological.org/t/the-proximal-origin-of-sars-cov-2/398.  
42 Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., et. al., The proximal origin of SARS-CoV-2, NATURE MEDICINE (Mar. 17, 2020) 
[hereinafter “Proximal Origin”].  
43 Id.   
44 E-Mail from Jeremy Farrar, Dir., Wellcome Trust, to Eddie Holmes, Ph.D., et. al., Professor, University of Sydney 
(July 28, 2020, 12:36 AM).  
45 Id. (Dr. Collins did not recall being on any calls with Chinese officials or Dr. Farrar, separately or together, during 
this time period.)  
46 Jeremy Farrar, Spike: The Virus vs. The People – The Inside Story (Profile Books 2021) [hereinafter “Spike: The 
Virus vs. The People – The Inside Story”]. 
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that this pathogen had surfaced in Wuhan, a city with a BSL-4 virology lab which is home to an 
almost unrivalled collection of bat viruses.”47 Dr. Farrar’s first concern was, “[c]ould the novel-
coronavirus be anything to do with ‘gain-of-function’ (GOF) studies?”48 This is a type of 
research that Dr. Farrar, much like Dr. Fauci, believed to be “ultimately useful.”49  
 

Around this same time, Dr. Andersen shared his concerns regarding the possibility the 
COVID-19 pandemic was the result of a lab leak and that it had properties that may have been 
genetically modified or engineered—specifically the furin cleavage site—with Dr. Holmes.50 
According to Dr. Holmes, Dr. Andersen texted, “Eddie, can we talk? I need to be pulled off a 
ledge here.”51  

 
Dr. Andersen went on to express concerns regarding two distinct aspects of the virus—the 

RBD and the furin cleavage site. Dr. Andersen also found a paper written by Dr. Baric and Dr. 
Shi [hereinafter “Baric/Shi Paper”] that purported to have inserted furin cleavage sites into 
SARS. As recounted by Dr. Farrar, this paper was a “how-to-manual for building the Wuhan 
coronavirus in a laboratory.”52 Dr. Holmes responded, “fuck, this is bad” and “oh my god what 
worse words than that.”53  

 
On January 30, 2020, Dr. Holmes relayed Dr. Andersen’s concerns to Dr. Farrar via his 

burner phone.54 Dr. Andersen recalled Dr. Holmes saying that Dr. Farrar acted as Dr. Holmes’ 
“handler.”55 Then, as Dr. Holmes characterized it, the conversations went from “zero to 100.”56 

 
January 31, 2020 
 

In a transcribed interview, Dr. Andersen testified that after discussing his concerns with 
Dr. Farrar, they began to organize a conference call [hereinafter “February 1 Conference Call”].57 
The February 1 Conference Call was a forum for Dr. Andersen to “walk through my concerns 
and then…discuss it.”58  
 

Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023) 
 
And Jeremy [Farrar] gets all of this set up. He, I’m sure, has been in touch 
with Tony Fauci at the time, reaches out to Dr. Fauci, asks him to call me.59  

 
 

47 Id.   
48 Id.  
49 Id.   
50 Vincent Racaniello, This Week in Virology 940 (Sept. 28, 2022) [hereinafter “Racaniello”]. 
51 Id.  
52 Spike: The Virus vs. the People, supra note 46.  
53 Id; Racaniello, supra note 50.  
54 Id.  
55 Transcribed Interview of Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research, at 16 (June 16, 2023) (hereinafter 
“Andersen TI”). 
56 Racaniello, supra note 50.  
57 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 16.  
58 Id.  
59 Id.  
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Dr. Andersen testified that January 31 was the first time he spoke to Dr. Fauci personally, 

outside of potential interactions at conferences.66 Accordingly, it was also on the January 31 
phone call between Dr. Fauci and Dr. Andersen when the first discussion of a paper regarding a 
possible lab leak took place.67  

 
Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023) 
 
Q. Was this the first time that you had ever spoken to Dr. Fauci, like 

personally?  
 
A. Probably. Yeah… 
 
Q. Outside of conferences or - -? 
 
A. Sure. Yes. Yes. Yes. Absolutely, yes.  
 
*** 

 
66 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 16.  
67 Id.  
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Dr. Andersen clarified what “unusual features” he was referencing. 
 

Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023) 
 
Q. Which features, at that time, were you talking about?  
 
A. Yeah, I’m talking about, like, the furin cleavage site, the receptor 

binding domain, and a few things associated with that, the BamH1 
restriction site that I mentioned, as well as some features associated 
with that - - basically, what I ended up presenting the next day at 
that conference call.73  

 
 Dr. Andersen subsequently confirmed that when he said the “genome inconsistent with 
expectations from evolutionary theory” he meant he thought COVID-19 could have been 
engineered. 
 

Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023) 
 
Q. …[W]as it the furin cleavage site and the RBD that looked 

inconsistent from evolutionary theory? 
 
*** 
 
A. And when I’m saying the genome is inconsistent with expectations 

from evolutionary theory, it’s a bit of a fancy way of basically 
saying, like, look, guys, I think this could be engineered.74   

 
 The next day, February 1, 2020, a group of scientists, including Dr. Fauci, gathered via 
conference call for Dr. Andersen to present these findings and discuss a path forward.  
 
February 1, 2020 
 
  On February 1, 2020, Dr. Farrar emailed a large group to set up the February 1 
Conference Call to discuss Dr. Andersen’s concerns about the origins of COVID-19. The original 
attendee list included: 
 
Kristian Andersen 
Bob Garry  
Christian Drosten 
Tony Fauci 
Mike Ferguson  
Ron Fouchier 
Eddie Holmes 

 
73 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 16.  
74 Id.  
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Marion Koopmans  
Stefan Pohlmann 
Andrew Rambaut  
Paul Schreier  
Patrick Vallance.75  
 
 Despite Dr. Farrar sending the invitation on February 1, Dr. Andersen testified he was 
aware of the potential of a call prior to February 1.  
 

Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023) 
 
Q. When did you first learn of this call? Was it when the roster was sent 

out, February 1st?  
 
A. No. I knew that the call was going to happen, because Eddie, myself 

had talked about it, and I talked to Jeremy Farrar…This is where I 
became aware of all the details surrounding the conference call.76  

 
 In a transcribed interview, Dr. Garry testified he was also aware of the potential 
conference call prior to February 1. 
 

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023) 
 
Q. How were you invited to this call? 
 
A. I believe I received an email from Jeremy Farrar. 
 
Q. …[T]o the best of you recollection, what day was that? 
 
A. Probably the day before or - - at most 2 days before, but I think it 

was the day before.77   
 
 In addition to Dr. Fauci, at least two other federal government officials were on the call 
despite not being on the official roster—Dr. Collins and Dr. Tabak.  
 
 E-mails suggest that Dr. Fauci personally invited Dr. Collins.78  
 

 
75 E-Mail from Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir., Wellcome Trust, to Anthony Fauci, M.D., et. al., Dir., Nat’l Inst. of 
Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health (Feb. 1, 2020). 
76 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 16.  
77 Transcribed Interview of Robert Garry, Ph.D., Professor, Tulane University School of Medicine, at 16 (June 9, 
2023) [hereinafter “Garry TI”]. 
78 E-Mail from Anthony Fauci, M.D., Dir., Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health, to 
Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir., Wellcome Trust, & Francis Collins, M.D., Ph.D., Dir., Nat’l Insts. of Health (Feb. 1, 
2020, 15:48); E-Mail from Anthony Fauci, M.D., Dir., Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of 
Health, to Robert Garry, Ph.D., Professor, Tulane School of Medicine, et. al. (Feb. 1, 2020, 15:50).  



Page 14 of 520 
 

 
 

 
 
On March 24, 2023, the Select Subcommittee requested Dr. Fauci clarify whether he 

personally invited Dr. Collins to the conference call.79 On March 27, 2023, Dr. Fauci responded, 
via Counsel, “[a]s one would reasonably expect, Dr. Fauci advised his immediate supervisor, Dr. 
Francis Collins, that the call was taking place. Dr. Collins expressed an interest in joining the 
call.”80 In a transcribed interview, Dr. Fauci further clarified this sequence of events. 
 

Dr. Anthony Fauci (January 9, 2024) 
 
Q. So I want to talk about the first forward of yours to Dr. Collins. Did 

Dr. Collins request to be on the call? Like, how did the process -- 
you obviously forwarded the call-in details to Dr. Collins. How did 
that process play out? 

 
A. Well, Dr. Collins is my boss. So this seemed like a pretty important 

call for NIH, so I thought it would be a good idea to let my boss 
know. 

 
 

79 Letter from Hon. Brad Wenstrup, Chairman, Select Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Pandemic, to Anthony Fauci, 
M.D. Dir., Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health (Mar. 24, 2023).  
80 Letter from David Schertler & Danny Ornato, Counsel for Dr. Anthony S. Fauci, to Hon. Brad Wenstrup, 
Chairman, Select Subcomm. on the Coronavirus Pandemic (Mar. 27, 2023).  
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Q. So you got invited -- or you had the January 31st call, got invited to 
the conference call after Farrar set it all up, and then went and was 
like, "Dr. Collins, there's this call happening. Would you like to take 
part?" Is that fair? 

 
A. I believe that's the way it went, because -- yeah, I believe that's the 

way it went. 
 
Q. Okay. It's been in the news for a while and Dr. Redfield has talked 

about this a lot and testified in front of us in March that he was not 
included in the call. He was very clear to say he was not -- he's not 
testifying that he was intentionally excluded, just that he was not 
included. At any point, did – 

 
A. Actually, he said that I kept him out of the call because he had a 

different viewpoint. 
 
Q. He did say that – 
 
A. He said that clearly. 
 
Q. Do you recall having any conversations with – 
 
A. Sorry. 
 
Q. No. No problem. Do you recall having any conversations with Dr. 

Redfield about the call? 
 
A. No. No. 
 
Q. Why not? 
 
A. Because why would I do that? This was a call that was organized by 

Jeremy Farrar, who was the organizer of the call, and it wasn't my 
call who was in and on. But it was perfectly appropriate for me to 
notify my boss. 

 
Q. This is the beginning of a pandemic, discussing how to respond to 

the pandemic. 
 
A. Yeah. Yeah. 
 
Q. Dr. Redfield is the head of the CDC – 
 
A. No, I'm sorry, I disagree with you. 
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Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023) 
 
Q. And what, to the best of your recollection, and briefly, what did you 

present on the call? 
 
A. I presented the main findings I had, which was some of the features 

that I found to be unusual in the viral genome, including the receptor 
binding domain, the furin cleavage site, the damage, one site which 
is a restriction site, and also just outlining some of the research that 
have been ongoing at the Wuhan Institute of Virology.  And I had a 
presentation, which you have as part of your exhibits too. 

 
Q. Regarding the Wuhan Institute of Virology, what did you present? 
 
A. Just in broad terms, the fact that they were culturing viruses from 

bats, or attempting to culture viruses from bats, isolate viruses from 
bat samples, which is not easy, in BSL-2; and, also, some of their 
chimeric work using WIV-1, for example, which is a common 
backbone that they are using; as well as just the general strategies 
around creating chimeric viruses, much of which I believe was done 
in BSL-2 and, as I mentioned, animal work in BSL-3.  But those 
were my, sort of, concerns around the research and the reason, of 
course, for why we need to consider a potential lab leak as a 
scientific hypothesis, yes.84   

 
 Dr. Andersen further testified that the primary participants on the call were himself, Dr. 
Rambaut, Dr. Holmes, Dr. Christian Drosten,85 Dr. Ron Fouchier,86 and Dr. Marion 
Koopmans.87, 88 Both Dr. Garry and Dr. Andersen testified about any comments made by Dr. 
Fauci or Dr. Collins on the February 1 Conference Call.  
 

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023) 
 
Q. Did [Dr. Fauci] say anything? 
 
A. He didn’t say a whole a lot. 
 
Q. To your recollection - - what did he say? 
 

 
84 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 89-90. 
85 Dr. Christian Drosten: Professor, Deputy Coordinator Emerging Infections, German Center for Infection Research, 
DE. 
86 Dr. Ron Fouchier: Deputy Head of the Erasmus MC Department of Viroscience, Erasmus MC, NL. 
87 Dr. Marion Koopmans: Head of the Erasmus MC Department of Viroscience, Erasmus MC, NL. 
88 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 98. 
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A. He just acknowledged that he was there, but the details are not really 
clear.  He really didn't say much of substance.  It was, you know -- I 
mean, Jeremy Farrar was clearly sort of introducing and ending the 
meeting.  It was his call to make.  Neither Fauci or Collins really 
had much to say, other than just, you know, maybe a point of 
clarification here or there. 

 
*** 

 
Q. …Was Dr. Collins on the call? 
 
A. He was on the call.  What I remember was is that he was basically 

on and off the call, because I think he was having some kind of a 
social event at the time.  So, he did come on and off.  But he, you 
know, he made his presence, you know, just I'm here, basically, 
known a couple of times.  

 
Q. Was that - - to your recollection, was that the substance of his 

speaking role? 
 
A. He really didn’t offer anything scientifically.89  

 
Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023) 
 
Q. On the conference call -- we talked a little bit about it -- what do you 

recall Dr. Fauci saying, if he said anything?  
 
A. I honestly don't remember Dr. Fauci, Collins -- I believe there 

might've been other NIH contingents on the call too.  They probably 
had some questions, but I don't recollect that they -- they certainly 
didn't add anything of substance to the scientific discussion.  Again, 
the discussions were:  Jeremy said a few things to sort of set up the 
call and "here's what we're going to do," but, otherwise, the 
conversation was just between myself, Eddie Holmes, Andy 
Rambaut, Christian Drosten, Ron Fouchier in particular, so among 
the experts present on the call. 

 
Q. Do you recall Dr. Collins saying anything on the conference call?   
 
A. I do not, no.90 

 

 
89 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 132. 
90 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 96. 
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 In a transcribed interview, Dr. Tabak testified he joined the call to discuss the presence of 
O-linked glycans and that the presence of these glycans does not indicate whether COVID-19 
emerged as a natural spillover or via a laboratory related incident. 
 

Dr. Lawrence Tabak (January 5, 2024) 
 
Q. …So kind of just the invitation just kind of fell into your inbox, and 

you went from there? 
 
A. I had a specific reason for wanting to join the call. 
 
Q. What was that? 
 
A. Because I had one observation that I wanted to share with the group, 

and I did. 
 
Q. Was it the O-linked glycans? 
 
A. Correct. 
 
*** 
 
Q. I appreciate it. I'm not a scientist at all, so, like, anything that I've 

learned is because I've just been listening to people like you. But the 
presence of the O-linked glycans themselves does not lean one way 
or another? 

 
A. I don't think so. 
 
Q. Okay. 
 
A. I think you could argue it either way. I really do.91 

 
 The February 1 conference call was subsequently summarized in a memo.92 
 
 
 
 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 

 
91 Tabak TI, supra note 83, at 134- 136.  
92 E-Mail from Lawrence Kerr, Ph.D., Dir., Off. Of Pandemic and Emerging Threats, Off. Of Global Affairs, U.S. 
Dep’t of Health & Human Servs., to REDACTED (Feb. 5, 2020 1:54 AM).  
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Both Dr. Andersen and Dr. Garry testified regarding if Dr. Fauci ever directed them to 
write a paper regarding the origins of COVID-19. Dr. Garry testified, “he never directed that to 
me.”93 However, Dr. Garry clarified, “I’m not privy to all the communications that Dr. Fauci had 
with the other authors.”94 Dr. Andersen testified that in addition to Dr. Fauci “suggesting” a 
paper about a potential lab leak on January 31, 2020, on the February 1 Conference Call, Dr. 
Fauci “encouraged to, you know, follow the scientific process on this which ultimately ends up 
in peer-reviewed publications.”95 Dr. Andersen clarified that Dr. Fauci specifically mentioned 
drafting a peer-reviewed paper on January 31, stating, “he specifically mentioned that if I 
believed this was a lab leak, I should consider writing a peer-reviewed paper on it.”96 
 
 When Dr. Andersen presented a draft of Proximal Origin to Nature, he stated it was 
“prompted” by Dr. Fauci and later stated the goal of Proximal Origin was to “disprove the lab 
leak theory.”97  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 
 

 
93 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 133-134. 
94 Id.  
95 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 145. 
96 Id.  
97 E-Mail from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research, to Clare Thomas, Editor, Nature (Feb. 12, 
2020, 23:09); E-Mail from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research, to Christian Drosten, Ph.D., 
Deputy Coordinator for Emerging Infections, German Center for Infection Research, et. al. (Feb. 8, 2020). 
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way.  Maybe he was, you know -- I don't know.  I really shouldn't 
speculate on that.  You probably need to ask him.98  

 
 When asked about this email, Dr. Andersen confirmed that he was referencing the 
January 31 phone call with Dr. Fauci.  
 

Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023) 
 
Q. What did you mean by “prompted by Jeremy Farrar, Tony Fauci, 

and Francis Collins”? 
 
A. I mean specifically that -- again, as I've already explained, is that 

they prompted us to the idea of seriously considering the origin of 
the virus and to consider producing a paper on that…And, again, 
remember my first conversation with Tony Fauci, where he 
specifically suggests that if I think this came from the lab, I should 
consider writing a scientific paper on it.  

 
Q. So that’s what the - - the prompt he was referencing - - that first 

conversation? 
 
A. Correct.99   

 
The first draft of a report that would become Proximal Origin was completed by 7:40 

p.m. on February 1—only hours after the conference call. While it may not have been the goal of 
the February 1 Conference Call, a written product of some sort was certainly discussed and 
contemplated on the February 1 Conference Call.  
 

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023) 
 
Well, you know, of course, we had the teleconference on February the 1st, 
2020.  And we had already, you know, had many discussions amongst 
ourselves, I mean.  And by ourselves, I mean Kristian and Eddie and 
Andrew and I, with other people.  So, you know, there were sort of notions 
and ideas circulating around. 
 
And, you know, the possibility of the paper, we're scientists.  We write 
papers.  We communicate.  We do, you know, we do science 
communication.  That's the sort of the final stamp on a lot of work that you 
might do is to write up a paper.  So, of course, I think that was in everyone's 
mind…  
 

 
98 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 166. 
99 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 170. 
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And so, I think by, you know, by that February 1 teleconference, if you want 
to mark it there, I mean, it didn't take too many days after that.100 

 
The Stated Goals of Proximal Origin  
 

First, on February 8, 2020, Dr. Andersen wrote, “[o]ur main work over the past couple of 
weeks has been focused on trying to disprove any type of lab theory, but we are a crossroad 
where the scientific evidence isn’t conclusive enough to say that we have high confidence in any 
of the three main theories considered.”101  

 

 
 

Second, on February 20, 2020, Dr. Andersen—in trying to defend the viability of 
Proximal Origin—wrote, “[u]nfortunately none of this helps refute a lab origin and the 
possibility must be considered as a serious scientific theory (which is what we do) and not 
dismissed out of hand as another ‘conspiracy’ theory. We all really, really wish that we could do 
that (that’s how this got started), but unfortunately it’s just not possible given the data.”102 
 

 
 

 
100 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 130-131. 
101 E-Mail from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research, to Christian Drosten, Ph.D., Deputy 
Coordinator for Emerging Infections, German Center for Infection Research, et. al. (Feb. 8, 2020, 22:15).  
102 E-Mail from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research, to Claire Thomas, Ph.D., Senior Editor, 
Nature (Feb. 20, 2020, 17:48).  
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The Possible Motives of Proximal Origin  
 

The first possible motive to downplay the lab leak theory was an interest by those 
involved to defend China. This motive was expressed by numerous individuals including Dr. 
Farrar, Dr. Rambaut, Dr. Andersen, Dr. Fouchier. Similarly, Dr. Collins expressed concerns 
regarding “international harmony.”105 

 
1. Dr. Andrew Rambaut 

 
On February 2, 2020, Dr. Rambaut, communicating over a private Slack channel with Dr. 

Andersen, Dr. Holmes, and Dr. Garry, wrote, “given the shit show that would happen if anyone 
serious accused the Chinese of even accidental release, my feeling is we should say that given 
there is no evidence of a specifically engineered virus, we cannot possibly distinguish between 
natural evolution and escape so we are content with ascribing it to natural process.”106 

 
2. Dr. Kristian Andersen 

 
In response to Dr. Rambaut’s message above, Dr. Andersen replied, “[y]up, I totally agree 

that that’s a very reasonable conclusion. Although I hate when politics is injected into science – 
but its impossible not to, especially given the circumstances.”107 
 

3. Dr. Ron Fouchier 
 

Dr. Fouchier, in emails following the February 1 Conference Call, stated, “…further 
debate about such accusations would unnecessarily distract top researchers from their active 
duties and do unnecessary harm to science in general and science in China in particular.”108  
 

4. Dr. Francis Collins   
 

Dr. Collins, in emails following the February 1 Conference Call, stated, “…the voices of 
conspiracy will quickly dominate, doing great potential harm to science and international 
harmony.”109 

 
The second possible motive to downplay the lab leak theory was to lessen the likelihood 

of increased biosafety and laboratory regulations. Dr. Fouchier stated, “[t]his manuscript would 
be much stronger if it focused on the likelihood of the first 2 scenarios as compared to intentional 
or accidental release. That would also limit the chance of new biosafety discussion that would 

 
105 E-Mail from Francis Collins, M.D., Dir. Nat’l Insts. of Health, to Jeremy Farrar, M.D., et. al., Dir. Wellcome 
Trust (Feb. 2, 2020).  
106 Message from Andrew Rambaut, Ph.D., Slack (Feb. 2, 2020, 11:53 a.m.).  
107 Message from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Slack (Feb. 2, 2020, 11:56 a.m.). 
108 E-Mail from Ron Fouchier, Ph.D., Deputy Head of the Erasmus MC Department of Viroscience, Erasmus MC, to 
Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir. Wellcome Trust, et. al. (Feb. 2, 2020, 8:30 AM).  
109 E-Mail from Francis Collins, M.D., Ph.D., Dir. Nat’l Insts. of Health, to Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir. Wellcome 
Trust, et al. (Feb. 2, 2020, 10: 27).  
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unnecessarily obstruct future attempts of virus culturing for research and diagnostic purposes for 
any (emerging/zoonotic virus).”110 
 

 
 
The Involvement of Dr. Fauci, Dr. Collins, and Dr. Farrar 
 

Throughout the drafting process, the authors of Proximal Origin were keenly aware of the 
influence of Dr. Fauci, Dr. Collins, and Dr. Farrar.  
 
 It appears a draft of Proximal Origin did not leave the authorship group until on or around 
February 4 or 5. Dr. Andersen wrote to Dr. Holmes, Dr. Garry, and Dr. Rambaut, “[u]nless others 
have further comments, I’d say this is ready to go up the chain.”111 Dr. Holmes responded, 
“[w]orks for me. Should I quickly check with Jeremy to see if he is happy for it to be circulated 
to the higher group?”112 A few hours later, Dr. Holmes sent the first summary to Dr. Farrar.113 
 
 
 

 
110 E-Mail from Ron Fouchier, Ph.D., Deputy Head of the Erasmus MC Department of Viroscience, Erasmus MC, to 
Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir. Wellcome Trust, et. al. (Feb. 8, 2020, 11:36 AM).  
111 E-Mail from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor Scripps Research, to Robert Garry, Ph.D., Professor, Tulane 
School of Medicine, et. al. (Feb. 5, 2020). 
112 E-Mail from Dr. Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., et. al., 
Professor Scripps Research (Feb. 4, 2020).  
113 E-Mail from Dr. Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney, to Robert Garry, Ph.D., et. al., 
Professor, Tulane School of Medicine (Feb. 4, 2020, 12:36 PM).  
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Q.  Is it your same presumption that he's referencing NIH?   
 
A. That's my assumption, yes.119 

 
On February 7, 2020, Dr. Farrar said, “will share with TC [teleconference] group over the 

weekend…”120 On February 8, Dr. Farrar forwarded a draft of Proximal Origin to the same 
participants of the February 1 Conference Call—further linking that call to the conception of 
Proximal Origin.121  

 
Within hours of receiving the draft, Dr. Fauci, worried about the possibility of serial 

passage in animals in a lab, asked the whole group, “[w]ould serial passage in an animal in the 
laboratory give the same result as prolonged adaption in animals in the wild? Or is there 
something that is fundamentally different in what happens when you serial passage versus 
natural animal adaption?”122 Dr. Garry responded, “[i]t’s possible to fairly rapidly select for more 
pathogenic variants in the laboratory.”123  
 

In addition to Dr. Fauci’s and Dr. Collin’s involvement, Dr. Farrar led the drafting process 
and made at least one direct edit to Proximal Origin. Dr. Farrar, however, is not credited as 
having any involvement in the drafting and publication of Proximal Origin, when in fact he led 
the drafting process and made direct substantive edits to the publication.  
 
 On February 17, 2020, right before publication, Dr. Lipkin emailed Dr. Farrar to thank 
him for leading the drafting process of Proximal Origin, to which Dr. Farrar responded that he 
will “push” the publisher.124  
 
 
 
 
 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 
 

 
119 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 176. 
120 E-Mail from Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir. Wellcome Trust, to Edward Holmes, Ph.D., et. al. Professor, University of 
Sydney (Feb. 7, 2020).  
121 E-Mail from Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir. Wellcome Trust, to Edward Holmes, Ph.D., et. al. Professor, University of 
Sydney (Feb. 8, 2020).  
122 E-Mail from Anthony Fauci, M.D., Dir., Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health, to 
Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., et. al., Dir., Wellcome Trust (Feb. 8, 2020).  
123 E-Mail from Robert Garry, Ph.D., Professor, Tulane College of Medicine, to Anthony Fauci, M.D., et. al., Dir., 
Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. of Health (Feb. 8, 2020).   
124 E-Mail from Lipkin to Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir. Wellcome Trust (Feb. 17, 2020). 
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 Further, Dr. Andersen testified that Dr. Farrar was the “father figure” of Proximal 
Origin.125 In addition to leading the drafting and publication process, Dr. Farrar made at least one 
direct edit to Proximal Origin.126 
 

 
  
 This evidence suggests that Dr. Farrar was involved in the drafting and publication of 
Proximal Origin and probably should have been credited or acknowledged for this involvement. 
Both Dr. Fauci and Dr. Collins testified they did not provide edits to Proximal Origin.  
  
 

 
125 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 180. 
126 E-Mail from Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir., Wellcome Trust, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., et. al., Professor, Scripps 
Research (Feb. 17, 2020, 10: 42 AM).  
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The Involvement of Dr. Lipkin  
 

Dr Lipkin was the only author of Proximal Origin that was not on the February 1 
Conference Call.127 Dr. Lipkin confirmed he was not even invited to the February 1 Conference 
Call, and he had no prior knowledge of the call taking place.128  
 

Dr. Ian Lipkin (April 6, 2023) 
 
Q. When did you eventually learn of the call? 
 
A. Actually, I learned of it far more recently than you might expect - - 

I can’t tell you precisely when, but I did not know about it in 
February of 2020. 

 
Q. The existence of the call or what was communicated on the call was 

not communicated to you during the drafting or Proximal Origin?  
 
A. That is correct.129  

 
  Despite the authors completing the first draft of Proximal Origin by February 1, Dr. 
Lipkin was not invited to join and was not sent a draft until February 10.130 In that email, Dr. 
Holmes stated, “I’ll have to chat with Jeremy in a little while to see if I can get you more directly 
involved.”131 It is unclear, why Dr. Farrar had approval over Dr. Lipkin’s involvement.  
 

Prior to being added as an author, Dr. Lipkin spoke to Dr. Holmes a few times. On at least 
one occasion, Dr. Lipkin raised concerns regarding the furin cleavage site. As Dr. Holmes 
recounted on February 10, “Ian Lipkin just called – very worried about the furin cleavage site 
and says that high ups are as well, inc. intel.”132 Dr. Holmes later said, “I think Ian thinks it’s 
from a lab.”133 

 
After reading the draft shared with him, Dr. Lipkin responded:134 

 
 
 

 
127 Lipkin TI, supra note 38, at 92. 
128 Id. 
129 Id.  
130 E-Mail from Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney, to Ian Lipkin, M.D., Professor, Columbia 
University (Feb. 10, 2023).  
131 Id.  
132 E-Mail from Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney, to Andrew Rambaut, Ph.D., et. al., 
Professor, University of Edinburgh (Feb. 10, 2020).  
133 E-Mail from Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., et. al., 
Professor Scripps Research (Feb. 11, 2020).  
134 E-Mail from Ian Lipkin, M.D., Professor, Columbia University, to Eddie Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of 
Sydney (Feb. 11, 2020, 9:01 AM).  
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 Dr. Garry testified that Dr. Lipkin “…made a nice authorship contribution” and that “he 
read the paper many times and made some good comments back and forth…”135 Dr. Lipkin 
testified that he believed he was added to Proximal Origin because of his prior authorship of 
related papers. 
 

Dr. Ian Lipkin (April 6, 2023) 
 
Q. Why do you think Dr. Holmes invited you to join as an author?  
 
A. I had written an article on why the risk of wild animal markets.  I 

sent it to him, asked him to be a coauthor with me.  He agreed.  And 
my guess is that it was in that context that he invited me to join this 
paper.136 

 
However, this is not what the other authors discussed when considering whether to add 

him to the authorship group. According to Dr. Holmes, the authors added Dr. Lipkin as an author 
not necessarily for his expertise but for “safety in numbers” and “gravitas.”137  

 
 
 
 
 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 
 

 
135 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 160. 
136 Lipkin TI, supra note 38, at 93. 
137 E-Mail from Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., et. al., 
Professor, Scripps Research (Feb. 12, 2020, 1:15 AM).  
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to arise. This is strong evidence that SARS-CoV-2 is not the product of purposeful 
manipulation.”141 

 
 As discussed in a May 26, 2020 Working Paper authored independently by DIA scientists 
entitled, “Critical analysis of Andersen et al. The proximal origin of SARS-CoV-2” [hereinafter 
“Working Paper”], this argument rested on assumptions rather than facts.142 Instead of relying on 
scientific data or evidence, Proximal Origin assumes a methodology and intent of a fictional 
scientist.143 In essence, Proximal Origin argues that this fictional scientist would want to design 
the most optimal RBD possible, which COVID-19 does not possess.  
 

Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023) 
 
We knew, based on, you know, much of the great research that Dr. Baric did 
with SARS-1 is that based on that were predictions of here's the optimal 
way in which a sarbecovirus will bind into the human ACE2 receptor.  That 
is described in the literature, right?  So, if you were to design a new receptor 
binding domain, presumably you would choose that, right?  That would be 
the logical way to do it.   
 
And SARS-2 doesn't have that at all.  It has a completely different solution, 
right, which we had never seen before.  Yet it still appeared to bind well to 
the human ACE2 receptor -- which we now know, yes, it does bind well to 
the human ACE2 receptor, but it binds well to a lot of other ACE2 receptors, 
right, not just human.  
 
So, yeah, that's the idea behind, like, if you were to build this from scratch, 
you would take the solution that you already know works well.  Because 
that's how science is done, molecular biology is being done.144  
 
The Working Paper outlined that a more common approach is to simulate nature in the 

lab by taking novel coronaviruses and simulating recombination events—even by inserting furin 
cleavage sites—instead of optimizing the virus.145 This was explained further during a 
transcribed interview with an author of the Working Paper, CDR Chretien.  
 

CDR Jean-Paul Chretien (June 29, 2023) 
 
A. Well, they had pointed out that the receptor-binding domain would 

not have been predicted to be very good or optimal for infecting 
human cells.  And for me that implied an assumption that if 

 
141 Proximal Origin, supra note 41. 
142 CDR Jean-Paul Chretien & Dr. Greg Cutlip, Working Paper 26 May 2020: Critical Analysis of Andersen et. al. 
The proximal origin of SARS-Cov-2, DEF. INTEL. AGENCY (May 26, 2020) [hereinafter “Chretien & Cutlip Working 
Paper”]. 
143 Id.  
144 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 122. 
145 Chretien & Cutlip Working Paper, supra note 144. 
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SARS-CoV-2, whatever was in lab, that it probably would have 
come about in that way where one might have a priori designed a 
sequence to infect human cells.  And that certainly is possible, but 
we showed examples of the literature of novel coronaviruses being 
developed in different ways, and what we -- what we found was 
more of an empirical approach where one might take a backbone 
virus, a coronavirus from one species and insert part of a coronavirus 
from another species to observe the effects, and all serving stated 
purposes of developing medical countermeasures or improving 
public health.  But what we saw in scientific practice was much more 
of an empirical approach and not -- not an approach by design to 
achieve a specific function.  

 
Q. So, the reality was scientists more taking an approach to try to mimic 

natural recombination to see what those viruses would do in a 
human population?  

 
A. Yes.  
 
Q. Not with a stated goal of making the most effective coronavirus 

possible?  
 
A. That's right.146 

 
 When asked if the arguments in Proximal Origin regarding the RBD rested on 
assumptions, Dr. Garry testified: 
 

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023) 
 
Q. Is that still resting on an assumption that that’s not done, that they 

weren’t testing suboptimal RBDs at some point? 
 
A. I suppose, but why would you do that, you know? I mean, especially 

if you’re thinking that this virus was somehow engineered to be a 
weapon or, you know, at least be a good pathogen, you wouldn’t 
make a binding domain that was, you know, as poor as your 
computer predicted it would be for either one of those scenarios.147 

 
“The finding of SARS-CoV-like coronaviruses from pangolins with nearly identical RBDs, 

however, provides a much stronger and more parsimonious explanation of how SARS-CoV-2 
acquired these via recombination or mutation.”148 

 
 

146 Transcribed Interview of CDR Jean-Paul Chretien, Program Manager, Biological Technologies Office, Defense 
Advanced Research Projects Agency, at 35 (June 29, 2023) [hereinafter “Chretien TI”]. 
147 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 151. 
148 Proximal Origin, supra note 41. 



Page 37 of 520 
 

Again, according to CDR Chretien, the discovery of a very similar RBD in a naturally 
occurring pangolin virus is largely irrelevant.  
 

CDR Jean-Paul Chretien (June 29, 2023) 
 
So one of the -- the scenarios we laid out as plausible, and I think would 
still be plausible, is to begin with a bat origin coronavirus, something along 
the lines of RaTG13 but more similar to the -- or very, very closely similar 
to SARS-CoV-2, and then -- and then evaluate the effects of inserting a 
receptor-binding domain from another species, such as a pangolin.  And 
that's consistent with work that we've seen published from various 
coronavirus research labs and would be consistent with the observed 
SARS-CoV-2 as well.149  

 
Dr. Garry agreed that this scenario was an entirely plausible outcome. 

 
Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023) 
 
Q. If I in theory were to take that particular pangolin spike protein and 

attach it to a backbone of some other virus, that product that I would 
have created, though, theoretically in a lab, would itself have had 
the six key amino acid mutations being discussed here, right?  I 
know that's a - - hypothetical question.   

 
A. The way you said it, hypothetically, sure.150  

 
Further, Dr. Garry testified that the pangolin sequences “are interesting, but they, you 

know, by themselves, don’t tell you that, the virus was natural or from a lab.”151  
 

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023) 
 
Q. What does this mean? 
 
A. Okay. It means that, you know, the pangolin sequences are 

interesting, but they, you know, by themselves, don’t tell you that, 
the virus was natural or from a lab…You know, the pangolin viruses, 
by themselves you know, they have the similarity in the receptor 
binding domain, but, you know, there are other viruses out there like 
RaTG13 that is still, you know, a closer virus overall. None of the 
viruses that were known have a furin cleavage site, at least in these, 
you know, these close -- the ones that we're talking about here.152 

 
149 Chretien TI, supra note 148, at 36. 
150 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 112. 
151 Id.   
152 Id.  
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When asked if Proximal Origin’s arguments regarding the RBD ruled out a lab origin, 

CDR Chretien testified, “[n]ot in my assessment.”153 It is clear, the science and facts did not 
support Proximal Origin’s conclusion that COVID-19’s RBD “is strong evidence that SARS-
CoV-2 is not the product of purposeful manipulation.”154  
 

2. The Furin Cleavage Site 
 

“Polybasic cleavage sites have not been observed in related ‘lineage B’ betacoronaviruses, 
although other human betacoronaviruses, including HKU1 (lineage A), have those sites and 
predicted O-linked glycans. Given the level of genetic variation in the spike, it is likely that 

SARS-CoV-2-like viruses with partial or full polybasic cleavage sites will be discovered in other 
species.”155 

 
 The central pillar of Proximal Origin’s argument is that science would eventually find a 
furin cleavage site in a related coronavirus. This is a clear assumption with no proof nor 
evidence. Further, as of December 4, 2024, there still has not been a furin cleavage site 
discovered in sarbecoviruses—the subgenus COVID-19 belongs to—despite years of searching.   
 
 Dr. Andersen confirmed the rarity of furin cleavage sites in sarbecoviruses, stating, 
“…the furin cleavage site itself, which we had not seen in sarbecoviruses before.”156 Dr. Garry 
confirmed this, stating, “…SARS-Cov-2 so far is the only sarbecovirus that has a furin cleavage 
site.”157 Further, Dr. Lipkin stated, “[s]o, amongst the SARS-like viruses, and there are many 
coronaviruses, that was the first time that we’d seen that furin cleavage type.”158 When asked, 
“[h]ave there been any other SARS-related viruses…that has had a furin cleavage site?,” Dr. 
Farzan testified, “[n]o.”159 Finally, when asked, “…has there been a furin site observed in any 
viruses in the sarbecovirus family other than COVID-19?,” CDR Chretien stated, “…not to my 
knowledge.”160  
 
“The acquisition of both the polybasic cleavage site and predicted O-linked glycans also argues 

against culture-based scenarios. New polybasic cleavage sites have been observed only after 
prolonged passage of low-pathogenicity avian influenza virus in vitro or in vivo. Furthermore, a 
hypothetical generation of SARS-CoV-2 by cell culture or animal passage would have required 

prior isolation of a progenitor virus with very high genetic similarity, which has not been 
described. Subsequent generation of a polybasic cleavage site would have then required repeated 

passage in cell culture or animals with ACE2 receptors similar to those of humans, but such 
work has also not previously been described. Finally, the generation of the predicted O-linked 

 
153 Chretien TI, supra note 148, at 36. 
154 Proximal Origin, supra note 41. 
155 Id.  
156 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 95.  
157 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 119. 
158 Lipkin TI, supra note 38, at 70. 
159 Transcribed Interview of Michael Farzan, Ph.D., Professor of Pediatrics, Harvard Medical School (Apr. 21, 2023) 
[hereinafter “Farzan TI”]. 
160 Chretien TI, supra note 148, at 37. 
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glycans is also unlikely to have occurred due to cell-culture passage, as such features suggest the 
involvement of an immune system.” 

 
 Again, according to the Working Paper, this argument rested on a false assumption that 
all research is published. Dr. Garry testified:  
 

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023) 
 
Q. Is it possible - - maybe not probable, but possible - - that scientists 

do experiments they don’t publish? 
 
A. Sure.161 

 
Dr. Lipkin testified: 

 
Dr. Ian Lipkin (April 6, 2023) 
 
Q. Do you know of any researchers that don’t publish everything they 

sequence? 
 
A. Yes.162 

 
Dr. Farzan testified: 

 
Dr. Michael Farzan (April 21, 2023) 
 
Q. …have you ever conducted or known someone to conduct an 

experiment that they did not publish or make public? 
 
A. Sure.163  

 
 Further, many involved in Proximal Origin, or the February 1 Conference Call believe 
that it is possible to manipulate a novel coronavirus in a lab to force the selection of a furin 
cleavage site. In an email, Dr. Garry wrote, “[b]ottom line – I think that if you put selection 
pressure on a Cov without a furin cleavage site in cell culture you could well generate a furin 
cleavage site after a number of passages…”164 
 
 

 
161 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 153. 
162 Lipkin TI, supra note 38, at 70. 
163 Farzan TI, supra note 161, at 26. 
164 E-Mail from Robert Garry, Ph.D., Professor, Tulane School of Medicine, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., et. al., 
Professor, Scripps Research (Feb. 4, 2020, 2:50 PM).  
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Further, Dr. Garry testified that it would be possible to generate a furin cleavage site in a 
lab. 
 

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023) 
 
Q. But a novel coronavirus, if I just bring in a novel coronavirus, its 

still possible that I could create a furin cleavage site? 
 
A. I mean, its possible. I - - you know, its possible.167  

 
 Additionally, Dr. Garry testified that a scientist could conduct serial passaging of a virus 
in animals to generate a furin cleavage site and that this virus would be indistinguishable from a 
natural one.  
 

Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023) 
 
Q. Would past evolutionary passage in an animal in a laboratory look 

the same as evolutionary passage in an animal in the wild?  
 
A. In principle, yes.  It's a very difficult experiment you are describing 

though. 
   
Q. Are people capable of conducting that experiment?  
 
A. They're capable of doing it.  There would have to be a reason why 

they would want to do that.  And just doing it on some random bat 
viruses is probably not something that most scientists would 
consider.   

 
Q. Could you put enough laboratory selection pressure on a novel 

coronavirus to generate a furin cleavage site?  
 
A. I mean, is it possible?  It's in the realm of -- it's something -- I mean 

most everything is possible, right?  Is it probable?  Probably not, I 
would have to say.  I mean, in principle, you know, lots of things can 
happen; you know, unexpected things can happen.  But designing an 
experiment to actually make that happen, I'm not sure that there's 
any scientist that's really capable of doing that.168  

 
 Dr. Andersen agreed when asked, “you could put enough pressure on a coronavirus to 
generate a furin cleavage site?” He responded, “I think as a hypothesis, I think it’s a good 
hypothesis.”169 
 

 
167 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 34.  
168 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 32-33. 
169 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 159. 
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 No known SARS-related coronavirus or sarbecovirus—the subgenus that COVID-19 
belongs to—has a furin cleavage site and none have been found since the beginning of the 
pandemic. Further, those involved with Proximal Origin believed it is possible to artificially 
create a furin cleavage site in the lab. When asked if the arguments regarding the furin cleavage 
site put forth in Proximal Origin ruled out a lab origin, CDR Chretien testified, “no, not in my 
mind.”170 
 

3. The Novel Backbone  
 

“Furthermore, if genetic manipulation had been performed, one of the several reverse-genetic 
systems available for betacoronaviruses would probably have been used. However, the genetic 

data irrefutably show that SARS-CoV-2 is not derived from any previously used virus backbone.” 
 
 The Proximal Origin authors are correct that COVID-19 does not derive from any 
published backbone, but they once again assume that all data has been previously published, a 
faulty assumption. As noted in the Working Paper, “[r]ecent technological innovations make it 
easier than ever for scientists to develop new reverse genetics systems.”171 When asked for more 
detail, CDR Chretien testified:  
 

CDR Jean-Paul Chretien (June 29, 2023) 
 
Q. So, it would be possible that there are novel backbones or novel 

reverse genetics systems that are out there but not published? 
  
A. Yes.  
 
Q. And even simpler than that, not necessarily a novel backbone, but is 

it possible that researchers just used an unsequenced or unpublished 
coronavirus as the backbone?  

 
A. Yes.172 

 
 Via Slack, the Proximal Origin authors rebuted their own argument. Dr. Andersen wrote, 
“[j]ust in case people think it is difficult to make a CoV reverse genetics clone from scratch – 
these guys did it in a week…”173 
 

Further, Dr. Andersen wrote, “[o]ne important thing I came across though – for the SARS 
GoF studies they created a reverse genetics system for their bat virus on a whim. So, Ron’s and 
Christian’s argument (which I found to be the strongest) about that not being feasible is not true 
– they were already creating those.”174  
  

 
170 Chretien TI, supra note 148, at 39. 
171 Chretien & Cutlip Working Paper, supra note 144. 
172 Chretien TI, supra note 148, at 39. 
173 Message from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Slack (Feb. 21, 2020 9:05 p.m.)  
174 Message from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Slack (Feb. 2, 2020 6:48 p.m.)  
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Four hours later, according to Dr. Holmes, “[a]ll came together very quickly in the end. 
Jeremy Farrar and Francis Collins are very happy. Works for me.”179  
 

 
  
Proximal Origin Gets Rejected from Nature  

 
On February 12, 2020, Dr. Andersen pitched Proximal Origin to Nature.180 In his first 

pitch, as described above, he wrote, “[p]rompted by Jeremy Farrah [sic], Tony Fauci, and Francis 
Collins, Eddie Holmes, Andrew Rambaut, Bob Garry, Ian Lipkin, and myself have been working 
through much of the (primarily) genetic data to provide agnostic and scientifically informed 
hypothesis around the origins of the virus. We are not write finished with the writeup and we still 
have some loose ends, but I wanted to reach out to you to see if this might be potentially of 
interest? We see this more as a commentary/hypothesis, as opposed to a more long-form Letter 
or Article.”181  
 
 Senior Editor at Nature Clare Thomas responded, “Yes please!”182  
 
 On February 17, 2020, Dr. Holmes, on behalf of Dr. Andersen, submitted a manuscript 
titled, “The Proximal Origin of SARS-CoV-2” to Nature for review.183 Later that day, Dr. 
Andersen followed up writing, “[s]orry for contracting you again. The manuscript was put on 
Virological this morning, which has created some urgency from Wellcome, WHO, and 

 
179 E-Mail from Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., et. al., 
Professor, Scripps Research (Feb. 16, 2020, 6:59 PM).  
180 E-Mail from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research, to Clare Thomas, Editor, Nature (Feb. 12, 
2020).  
181 Id.  
182 E-Mail from Clare Thomas, Editor, Nature, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research (Feb. 13, 
2020).  
183 E-Mail from Clare Thomas, Editor, Nature, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research (Feb. 17, 
2020). 
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On February 20, 2020, Nature officially rejected Proximal Origin for publication. Ms. 
Thomas stated, “[w]e’ve now obtained two ref reports on the paper (appended below), and I’ve 
had the opportunity to discuss them with our chief editor Magdalena Skipper. In the light of the 
advice received I am afraid we have decided that we cannot offer to publish in Nature.”188 The 
primary reason for denial, as stated by Ms. Thomas, was, “…one of our referees raised concerns 
(also emphasized to the editors) about whether such a piece would feed or quash the conspiracy 
theories.”189 
 
 Regarding the denial, Dr. Andersen testified: 
 

Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023) 
 
Q. Did you ever get told why Nature originally rejected Proximal 

Origin?  
 
A. They -- I think they rejected the paper because I think the reviewers 

felt that probably -- I mean, reviewer two was pretty critical about 
our conclusions of the paper and felt that they should have been 
stronger, and I think he had relayed those concerns to the editor, and 
I think that that would have been the reason.  

 
Q. The conclusions that -- what do you mean?  
 
A. Basically, that we -- because, again, we kept the possibilities 

of -- remember the submitted version to that was open-ended, 
agnostic as to whether it could have been a lab passage of the two 
versions of the natural origin that we discuss.  And I think the editor 
probably felt that that was too open-ended.  That was clearly 
what -- especially reviewer two pointed that out in their review, 
which we disagreed with.190 

 
Dr. Garry testified:  

 
Dr. Robert Garry (June 9, 2023) 
 
Q. What were the reasons for the rejection?  
 
A. They -- well, I mean, you can read all the reviews of the paper.  They 

thought that we came down too strongly on the side that the virus 
had been of possible lab origin.  And some of the reviewers wanted 
us to take that out, and we didn't think that was appropriate.191   

 
188 E-Mail from Clare Thomas, Editor, Nature, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research (Feb. 20, 
2020). 
189 Id.  
190 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 186. 
191 Garry TI, supra note 77, at 176, 
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 After the denial, Ms. Thomas suggested submitting Proximal Origin to Nature 
Medicine.192   
 
Proximal Origin Gets Accepted at Nature Medicine 
 
 On February 27, 2020, Dr. Andersen submitted Proximal Origin to Nature Medicine.193 In 
his submission, Dr. Andersen wrote: 
 

I believe Clare over at Nature might have mentioned our commentary on 
the proximal origins of the hCoV-19 virus last week. We have been 
incorporating some critical changes to the reviewer's comments, so I just 
wanted to reach out to you to see if you're still interested in having a look 
at this manuscript? We're still incorporating a few changes but will have all 
of this wrapped up shortly as we're on a tight deadline - the media interest 
in this has been enormous and hasn't slowed down (we have refrained from 
commenting until formal publication). The public interest has also been 
very high, with more than 65,000 reads of the blog post version over the last 
week.194 

 
After having been denied by Nature for not downplaying the possibility of a lab leak 

strongly enough, the authors decided to make this submission stronger.  
 

Dr. Kristian Andersen (June 16, 2023) 
 
Q. You, and correct me if I'm wrong, said something along the lines 

earlier that the line:  We do not believe that any type of 
laboratory-based scenario is plausible was added at some point?  

 
A. Correct.  That was added to the final version of -- this was added 

after it went over to Nature Medicine, yes.  
 
Q. Did Nature Medicine add the line?  
 
A. No.   
 
Q. How did that process play out?  How did that line get added?  
 
A. That's based on our edits to the paper.  Again, as the editor at Nature 

Medicine states, is that he thought that the paper had grown 
significantly since the one he had seen from Nature.  We had to 
shorten it.  You need to trim this back down, more or less, to the size 

 
192 E-Mail from Clare Thomas, Editor, Nature, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research (Feb. 20, 
2020). 
193 E-Mail from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor Scripps Research, to Joao Monterio, Editor, Nature Medicine 
(Feb. 27, 2020).  
194 Id.  
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of the Nature version while retaining the major changes in response 
to the reviewers.  And some of the responses to the reviewers was 
that the reviewer felt that we could be more specific on, for example, 
that lab origins were less likely than we initially entertained, and I 
agreed with that.  I think we all agree with that, and those were 
changes that we incorporated.  So that includes that we don't believe 
that any type of lab origin is plausible.  It's something that was added 
in response to the reviewers, our own thinking of the topic, and then 
getting it published in Nature Medicine, as opposed to Nature.195  

 
 On March 5, 2020, Nature Medicine accepted Proximal Origin for publication.196   
 
The Anonymous Whistleblower to Jon Cohen 
 
 On July 25, 2020, an anonymous whistleblower emailed Mr. Jon Cohen, a reporter for 
Science magazine, and alleged that Proximal Origin plagiarized the arguments of others from the 
February 1 conference call.197 The whistleblower also alleged that this was one of the reasons 
that Nature rejected the paper.198 Mr. Cohen forwarded these claims to Dr. Andersen and Dr. 
Holmes and said, “[h]ere’s what one person who claims to have inside knowledge is saying 
behind your backs…”199 
 
 Dr. Andersen and Dr. Holmes then drafted a response to Mr. Cohen and forwarded their 
draft to Dr. Fauci and Dr. Farrar for approval.200 In this email, Dr. Andersen expressed concerns 
about confirming that the February 1 Conference Call took place, stating, “[w]e need to reply 
back to Jon, which would include confirming that this meeting took did indeed take place with 
you and Jeremy present. Please let me know if you have any comments or concerns in this 
regard.”201 
 
 In response to Dr. Andersen, Dr. Farrar replied, “[c]an we get the sequence of events right 
and agreed before a substantive reply goes back to Jon?”202 Dr. Holmes, responded with a 
revised draft and wrote, “[f]or Tony’s benefit a revised draft of the email to Jon is pasted 
below.”203  
 
 While the identity of the anonymous whistleblower is still unknown, the Proximal Origin 
authors had their own suspicions. Dr. Holmes opined, “…I’m 100% sure it was Ron who leaked 

 
195 Andersen TI, supra note 55, at 186-187. 
196 E-Mail from Nature Medicine, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research (Mar. 5, 2020).  
197 E-Mail from Jon Cohen, Reporter, Science, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research, & Edward 
Holmes, Ph.D., Professor University of Sydney (July 25, 2020).  
198 Id.  
199Id. 
200 E-Mail from Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., Professor, Scripps Research, to Anthony Fauci, M.D., et. al., Dir., Nat’l 
Inst. Of Allergy & Infectious Diseases (July 28, 2020).  
201 Id.  
202 E-Mail from Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., Dir., Wellcome Trust, to Kristian Andersen, Ph.D., et. al., Professor Scripps 
Research (July 28, 2020).  
203 E-Mail from Edward Holmes, Ph.D., Professor, University of Sydney, to Jeremy Farrar, Ph.D., et. al., Dir. 
Wellcome Trust (July 28, 2020).  
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Q. Were you the – 
 
A. No, I was not. I was not. I was building suspense. 
 
Q. So Dr. – 
 
A. And it worked. 
 
Q. It did. Part of it is because Dr. Holmes thinks you were the one that 

contacted John Cohen. 
 
A. Well, that's why he may say it. He and -- I'm forgetting his name, 

sorry -- Andersen. If that's what they thought, he may have been 
really irritated with me if he felt that it was me, but it was not. 

 
Q. What did Mr. Cohen contact you about? 
 
A. He was asking me the same question you asked me, was I the author 

of that statement? And I said, no, I was not. 
 
Q. Do you know who is? 
 
A. No, I don't.206 

 
The Critical Reception of Proximal Origin  
 

On February 19, 2020, Proximal Origin was cited in the letter in The Lancet titled, 
“Statement in support of the scientists, public health professionals, and medical professionals of 
China combatting COVID-19.”207 Proximal Origin was cited as proof “this coronavirus 
originated in wildlife.”208  

 
On March 17, 2020, Dr. Andersen’s employer, Scripps Research, put out a press release 

regarding Proximal Origin entitled, “The COVID-19 coronavirus pandemic has a natural origin, 
scientists say.”209 Dr. Andersen is quoted in this release saying, “…we can firmly determine that 
SARS-COV-2 originated through natural process.”210 Dr. Farrar’s organization, The Wellcome 
Trust, is also quoted in the release, stating, “they conclude that the virus is the product of natural 
evolution.”211  
 

NIH and NIAID were keenly anticipating the release of Proximal Origin. On February 
19, 2020, the NIAID Office of Communications spoke internally regarding the paper and stated, 

 
206 Baric TI, supra note 39, at 124-125. 
207 Charles Calisher, Ph.D., et. al., Statement in support of the scientists, public health professionals, and medical 
professionals of China combatting COVID-19, THE LANCET (Feb. 19, 2020).  
208 Id.  
209 The COVID-19 coronavirus epidemic has a natural origin, scientists say, SCRIPPS RESEARCH (Mar. 17, 2020).  
210 Id.  
211 Id.  
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On March 26, 2020, Dr. Collins wrote a blog post for the NIH regarding Proximal 
Origin.214 Dr. Collins wrote, “[a] new study debunks such claims by providing scientific 
evidence that this novel coronavirus arose naturally.”215 Dr. Collins concluded, “[e]ither way, this 
study leaves little room to refute a natural origin for COVID-19.”216  

 
 On April 16, 2020, more than two months after the original February 1 Conference Call 
and a month after Proximal Origin was published, Dr. Collins emailed Dr. Fauci and expressed 
dismay that Proximal Origin did not successfully squash the lab leak theory. He stated, “I hoped 
the Nature Medicine article on the genomic sequence of SARS-CoV-2 would settle this…”217 
Then Dr. Collins asked Dr. Fauci, “[w]ondering if there is something NIH can do to help put 
down this very destructive conspiracy…Anything more we can do?”218  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 
 

 
214 Francis Collins, Genomic Study Points to Natural Origin of COVID-19, NAT’L INSTS. OF HEALTH (Mar. 26, 
2020).  
215 Id.  
216 Id.  
217 E-Mail from Francis Collins, Dir., Nat’l Insts. Of Health, to Anthony Fauci M.D., Dir. Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy & 
Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. Of Health (Apr. 16, 2020, 10:45 PM).  
218 Id.  
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 Dr. Collins testified that “Nature Medicine article” was in reference to Proximal 
Origin.219 The next day, on April 17, 2020, Dr. Fauci cited Proximal Origin from the White 
House podium. 
 

White House Press Conference (April 17, 2023) 
 
Q. Mr. President, I wanted to ask Dr. Fauci: Could you address 

these suggestions or concerns that this virus was somehow 
manmade, possibly came out of a laboratory in China? 

 
Dr. Fauci. There was a study recently that we can make available to 

you, where a group of highly qualified evolutionary 

 
219 Transcribed Interview of Francis Collins, M.D., Ph.D., former Dir., Nat’l Insts. of Health (Jan. 12, 2024) 
[hereinafter “Collins TI”]. 
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virologists looked at the sequences there and the sequences 
in bats as they evolve.  And the mutations that it took to get 
to the point where it is now is totally consistent with a jump 
of a species from an animal to a human. So, I mean, the paper 
will be available — I don’t have the authors right now, but 
we can make that available to you.220 

 
 After the briefing, a reporter directly asked which paper Dr. Fauci cited and was then sent 
Proximal Origin. The reporter wrote, “Dr. Fauci on Friday said he would share a scientific paper 
with the press on the origin of the coronavirus. Can you please help me get a copy of that 
paper?”221  
 

 
 
 Dr. Fauci responded, “[h]ere are the links to the scientific papers and a commentary about 
the scientific basis of the origins of SARS-Cov-2” and lists Proximal Origin.222  
 
 
 
 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY BLANK] 
 

 
220 Remarks by President Trump, Vice President Pence, and Members of the Coronavirus Task Force in Press 
Briefing, The White House (Apr. 17, 2020) [hereinafter “Remarks by President Trump April 17, 2020”]. 
221 E-Mail from Bill Gertz, Correspondent, The Wash. Times, to Anthony Fauci, M.D., Dir. Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy & 
Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. Of Health (Apr. 19, 2020, 2:21 PM).  
222 E-Mail from Anthony Fauci, M.D., Dir. Nat’l Inst. Of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, Nat’l Insts. Of Health, to 
Bill Gertz, Correspondent, The Wash. Times (Apr. 19, 2020, 9:25 PM).  
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 Dr. Fauci later stated he may not have ever actually read Proximal Origin.223 This raises 
questions of why he would cite a paper, he did not even read, from the White House podium as 
proof COVID-19 was not the result of a lab leak.  
 
 Dr. Collins testified that despite his e-mail suggesting he desired more action to “put 
down” the lab leak hypothesis, he did not instruct Dr. Fauci to cite Proximal Origin from the 
White House.224 Dr. Fauci also testified that his statement at the White House was not in 
response to Dr. Collins’ e-mail.225 
 
 On January 9, 2024, Mr. Don McNeil, former science and health reporter for the New 
York Times, published “The Wisdom of Plagues: Lessons from 25 Years of Covering 
Pandemics.” In Wisdom of Plagues, Mr. McNeil recounted: 

 
223 Megan Stack, Dr. Fauci Could Have Said a Lot More, THE N.Y. TIMES (Mar. 28, 2020).  
224 See Collins TI, supra note 221. 
225 See, Transcribed Interview of Anthony Fauci, M.D., former Dir., Nat’l Inst. of Allergy & Infectious Diseases, 
Nat’l Insts. of Health (Jan. 8, 2024) [hereinafter “Fauci TI 1”]. 
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Far more serious errors occur when sources deliberately deceive reporters. 
In late July 2023, this book was almost in print when I learned, from emails 
and Slack chats [released] by the Congressional Subcommittee on the 
Coronavirus Pandemic and posted on Public, a Substack magazine, that I 
was the victim of deception in the pandemic’s earliest days. In February 
2020, four eminent scientists whom I respected had discussed with each 
other various ways to throw me off track when I asked whether it was 
possible that the virus had been manipulated in a lab or might have leaked 
from one. Their efforts affected how I viewed the controversy over Covid’s 
origins and how the Times covered it. My publisher allowed me to quickly 
rewrite this chapter.226 

 
 Mr. McNeil also confirmed that the Proximal Origin authors’ deception altered how the 
New York Times reported on COVID-19 origins.  
 
  

 
226 Donald G. McNeil, Jr., The Wisdom of Plagues: Lessons from 25 Years of Covering Pandemics (Simon & 
Schuster, 2024). 


